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PART 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Annual Report

This is the Annual Report of the Roads Agency Limpopo (SOC) Ltd, which 
incorporates its Financial Performance, as contained in the Audited 
Annual Financial Statements (AFS), as well as its overall perfomance 
pertaining to the achievement of its pre-determined objectives, as set 
in the approved Annual Performance Plan. The aim of the report is to 
record the performance of Roads Agency Limpopo (RAL), in achieving 
its pre-determined strategic objectives, and the implementation of the 
forecast budget estimates, as measured against the approved Annual 
Performance Plan and Budget.

1.2. Reporting Framework

The three focal points of the report are the Audit Report, the 
Audited Annual Performance Report and the Audited Annual Financial 
Statements, which are a fair representation of the financial position, financial 
performance and cash flow of RAL; prepared in conformity with the 
framework for the preparation and presentation of the Financial Statements, 
as well as the Generally Recognised Accounting Practice Standards. The 
Annual Report is in conformity with section 55(1) and (2) of the PFMA, 
section 30 of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, sections 36 and 37 of the 
Limpopo Roads Agency Proprietary Limited and Provincial Roads Act 7 of 
1998, as amended, as well as regulation 28.2.2 of the Treasury Regulations.

Mr. M.S. Ralebipi
Chairperson: Board of Directors

1.3. Approval of the Annual Report

The Board of Directors confirms that this Annual Report fairly represents the 
performance of RAL for the financial year under review. The Audit and 
Risk Committee of the Board, upon which the oversight and performance 
monitoring function has been vested, has duly considered the Annual 
Report and recommended it to the Board for approval. The report was 
approved by the Board on 30 July 2019.

Mr. G.M. Maluleke CA(SA) ACMA,CGMA
Chief Executive Officer
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PART 2: GENERAL

2.1. About RAL

RAL is a State-Owned Company, registered as such in terms of the 
Companies Act, 71 of 2008, and it is a schedule 3C Provincial Public Entity, 
listed as such in terms of the Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999. 
RAL was established by the Limpopo Provincial Government, in 1999, 
through the promulgation of the Limpopo Roads Agency Proprietary 
Limited and Provincial Roads Act 7 of 1998, as amended. The shareholder 
representative of RAL is the MEC of Public Works, Roads and Infrastructure, 
on behalf of the Provincial Government. The sole mandate of RAL is to act 
as an implementing agent of the Limpopo Provincial Government, under 
the auspices of the Limpopo Department of Public Works, Roads and 
Infrastructure, responsible for the custodianship of the Limpopo Provincial 
road network.

RAL has been mandated to manage, control, plan, develop, and maintain 
the provincial road network on behalf of the provincial government. The 
road asset portfolio of RAL measures in the extent of 20 091 kilometres 
(km), of which only 6 175 km is tarred and the balance of 13 916 km is 
gravel roads. The Agency obtains its revenue from the Limpopo Provincial 
Government, in the form of the Provincial Roads Maintenance Grant 
(PRMG) and Equitable Share. The total budget allocation for the year 
under review, for both PRMG and Equitable Share was R1 388 million.

RAL has for the year under review upgraded 54,8km, rehabilitated and  
resealed 337 593 m2. An estimated amount of R160 billion would be 
required in order to enable RAL to tar the 13 916 km of gravel roads. 
Despite the budgetary constraints, RAL strives to employ all its endeavours 
to reduce the backlog of gravel roads that require tarring. In this regard, 
RAL has secured strategic partnerships in an effort to raise additional 
funds. Through the Partnerships, RAL has already raised a considerable 
amount of money and continues to secure more partnerships with key 
Private Sector role players to supplement the fiscal allocation which is 
inadequate to cater for the road infrastructure rollout.

RAL has been mandated
to manage, control, plan,
develop, and maintain the

provincial road network
on behalf of the

provincial government.
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PART 3: STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

3.1 Vision

To contribute to the socio-economic development by connecting the 
people of Limpopo Province.

3.2 Mission

To provide quality and sustainable provincial road infrastructure network 
for the economic development of Limpopo Province.

3.3 Values

The way we conduct ourselves and our business in pursuit of our vision and 
mission is underpinned and guided by the following corporate values:

• Commitment
We are committed to serving the province with pride

• Reliability
We offer reliable, safe and economic roads infrastructure

• Efficiency
We will go an extra mile in serving our communities

• Accountability
We remain accountable to all our stakeholders

• Transparency
We are transparent in both our internal and externalbusiness processes

• Excellence
We exceed expectations

• Teamwork
Together for better roads

• Diversity
We value and embrace diversity within the work context

8



ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019 9



ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

PART 4. FOREWORD BY THE MEC

The 2018/19 financial year, annual report for the Roads Agency Limpopo 
(RAL) records some major improvements in the performance of the entity. 
As in the last financial year, 2017/18, RAL has maintained its unqualified 
audit opinion in the year under review.

RAL, Limpopo Development Agency and Limpopo Tourism Agency are 
among the state-owned entities bestowed with a huge responsibility to 
develop the economy of the Limpopo Province through the services 
they provide to our people. It is a known fact that road infrastructure 
plays a significant role in the development and growth of any successful 
economy.

Since being appointed as the MEC for Public Works, Roads and infrastructure 
and as a result, the shareholder representative for RAL, I have made it 
clear to the Board that the relations between the entity and municipalities 
must be looked at with a view to strengthen it.

My belief is that only municipalities are better placed to understand in 
detail, the challenges faced by communities regarding the road 
infrastructure service delivery. It is therefore, in our interest to join hands 
and thoughts with them so that we encourage and facilitate integrated 
future planning to deliver on both our mandates.

Our stakeholders cannot afford to hear excuses when services are 
expected to be delivered to them. I am therefore calling upon the Board 
of RAL to strengthen their partnership efforts with municipalities and 
communities.

We acknowledge that Limpopo is predominantly a rural province and a 
lot of work still needs to be done to reduce the road infrastructure backlog 
in various district municipalities.

Of great concern to me, is that I have observed a huge escalation in 
road infrastructure service delivery protest. Our Province is characterised 
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by a disturbing trend of communities using service delivery protests 
as their advocacy tool to express dissatisfaction against government. 
Communities are increasingly resorting to protests to express dissatisfaction 
about what they view as the inability of government to deliver basic 
services such roads, water, electricity and houses etc. 

Service delivery protests have escalated in prevalence and severity 
over the last 10 years. Between 2009 and 2016 alone, more than 
10,000 service delivery protests were recorded across the country. 
In 2009, 1500, service delivery protests were witnessed (Statistics South 
Africa, 2017). The number significantly increased by 30% in 2010. The 
cases further surged to 2700 in year 2011. In 2013, reported incidences 
of service delivery protests rose to 3100 across the country.

Between 2015 and 2016, 4500 service delivery protest cases were recorded 
(StatsSA, 2017). By any standard, South Africa’s service delivery protest 
figures are stubbornly high and worrisome. Naturally, protests present 
a real threat to national security and stability. There is no doubt that 
the issue of service delivery protests is emerging as a new and complex 
developmental challenge for South Africa. Our communities believe 
protests force the government to address their service delivery plights. We 
are extremely concerned as government and would like to appeal to 
our communities to refrain from these acts of criminality and violence.

As we look forward to the 6th Administration, governments plan is to ensure 
that we continue to strive for a better life for all. This requires all of us to 
work together and to exercise some level patience.

Government, through Roads Agency Limpopo (RAL) is committed to 
strengthening its intergovernmental relations in order to improve 
communication on road infrastructure implementation with all concerned 
stakeholders.

The entity has already started working closely with District municipalities 
to ensure that the needs of the people are received and registered in a 
coordinated manner focusing on the systematic way of managing the 
operations between these two spheres of government.

We will continue to guide the Agency so that our people receive the services 
they so deserve. In the same way we want to provide new roads, we 
also want to preserve those we have already built through a coordinated 
process of maintenance. Continuing to build more new roads without 
maintaining the existing ones, will draw the province backwards, hence 
the need to balance the two.

Let me appeal to the Board of Directors to look for innovative ways to 
reduce the cost of building roads in the Province so that we are able 
to cover all municipalities as we undertake our responsibilities.

Dr. Sekutu Monicca Mochadi
MEC: Department of Public Works Roads and Infrastructure
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PART 5. STATEMENT BY THE BOARD CHAIRPERSON

The years 2015 to 2018 have been daunting for Roads Agency Limpopo. 
RAL has had to take many tough decisions to get the Agency to be 
where it is today in terms of performance as evident in the current 
Unqualified Audit Opinion for the year under review.

When the current board that I am honoured to lead was appointed in 
2018, the greatest challenge was to redefine the vision of success and 
make it a commitment to management, staff and the communities we 
serve. The Board has employed all its endeavours, in the financial year 
being reported on, to maintain internal controls and ensure adherence 
to legislative and regulatory prescripts, through exercising a 
monitoring and oversight role on a quarterly basis, to ensure that the 
positive performance of RAL achieved over the last two financial years 
does not regress and that it maintains an unqualified audit outcome. 
This achievement was made possible in collaboration with the dedication 
of the resourceful human capital in the employ of RAL. Our strong belief 
is that, to effectively deliver the much needed road infrastructure, the 
province require a collective and the support of all our valued stakeholders. 
Our beloved province can only get better when we join hands and 
thoughts.

One of the courageous young business people in Africa, Simbarashe 
Mhuriro, a Director at Oursun Energy Zimbabwe, though unknown to 
many, profoundly acknowledged that success is subjective when he 
was interviewed by “How we made it in Africa:” “Success should be 
measured on the following: revenues and profit; creating jobs for fellow 
citizens; creating wealth and new entrepreneurs for the communities 
we operate in; and being environmentally-conscious and productive 
through sustainable business practices.”

Through the support of RAL’s shareholder, the Honourable MEC for Public 
Works, Roads and Infrastructure, success for the board is to keep RAL 
a going concern. The Agency has to be transformed into an organisation 
that has the resources needed to continue operating indefinitely until 
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it provides evidence to the contrary. This cannot be possible without the 
dedication of management, trust by staff, hope by communities and ex-
ceptional political will. I will be forever grateful for the select talent, skill and 
wisdom of all the board members, including those who are no longer serving, 
for the commitment to deliver roads that contribute to the well-being of 
the people of Limpopo and the economy.

Converging around a common success, our collective vision made 
possible the achievement that we embrace in this report. The board 
reaffirms its longstanding commitment to facilitate province-wide mobility 
as well as leveraging the city-to-city and village-to-village connectivity 
via a well-maintained road network, recommits to serve, with distinction, 
the communities of the province.

The base for steering RAL is the National Development Plan (NDP) and 
Limpopo Development Plan (LDP) that place an enormous responsibility 
of building a resilient, modern and efficient road infrastructure at 
provincial level. Although great strides have been made in leveraging 
the quality of our province’s road network, the future challenge is to 
properly manage the surging demand of tarred roads especially in rural 
areas as indicated by endless and rapidly rising service delivery protests.

The task of reducing the mounting road development backlog in rural 
areas is so complex that no single organisation can not accomplish, 
without the support of other stakeholders such as the municipalities. The 
municipalities are best placed to understand the real needs of communities, 
within their respective municipal jurisdictions.

South Africa’s nation-building flight cannot fully take off, if state agencies 
and non-state actors continue to work in isolation. The idea of building a 
progressive coalition of mutual partnerships across all spectra of society 
has been identified by our political principal Dr Monica Mochadi (MEC 
for Public Works, Roads and Infrastructure) as the critical step towards 
realising the NDP’s 2030 vision of building a better South Africa for all.

Our future focus is to build on the successes made in the past, reimagine 
our partnership strategy in order to make it more impactful and reach 
out to more partners.

Our goal is to seek innovative ways to make RAL sustainably enabled to
deliver on its mandate. Strengthening the strategic partnerships efforts 
is at the centre of business strategy of RAL. We believe, through more 
strategic partnerships with the business community, RAL can make a 
dent to the huge existing backlog.

The first dimension that we will continue to prioritise is the community 
sector which aims to mainstream the noble inputs of our local communities 
into our overall road governance strategy. The second is the private 
sector whose primary focus is to stimulate private sector participation in 
mutually rewarding road development projects. Lastly, the municipality 
sector which seeks to foster greater convergence or linkages between 
various municipalities’ Integrated Development Plans (IDPs) and our 
strategic plans. Furthermore, the board is of the intentions to explore 
more funding mechanisms to supplement the Fiscal allocation, in order 
to deliver more road infrastructure rollout.

The governance of RAL will remain at the centre of organisational 
excellence without jeopardising delivery on its mandate.
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PART 6. OVERVIEW BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The economic development of our Province, Limpopo is dependent on 
a good road network to enable our people to access essential services 
such as schools, hospitals, work opportunities etc. The thriving agricultural, 
tourism and mining industries, which form the backbone of our economy 
as a province, are heavily reliant on the good road network infrastructure. 
The construction of roads in our province has enabled our previously 
disadvantaged members of our society to participate in the delivery of 
this road infrastructure as main contractors as well as SMME’s.

In accordance with the requirements of the RAL Act no. 7, 1998 and 
the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) no. 1 of 1999 as amended, 
we hereby present the Annual Report of the Roads Agency Limpopo 
(RAL) which includes the audited annual financial statements and 
performance information for the year ending 31 March 2019. It is with 
great honour on behalf of all of us, the employees of RAL together with 
the Board that we submit this annual report to the Limpopo Legislature, 
through our executive authority, the MEC of Public Works Roads and 
Infrastructure: Honourable Dr M Mochadi.

This annual report presents the outputs that were in accordance with 
the pre-determined objectives that are contained in the Annual 
Performance Plan of 2018/19 as approved by the Board of RAL 
and tabled in the Limpopo Legislature by the Honorable MEC for Public 
Works Roads and Infrastructure. This annual report also presents the 
organizational performance of RAL during the last year of the 5 year 
strategic plan for the period 2014/15 to 2019/20. It is also presented at 
the last year of the fifth administration of the Limpopo Province.

Infrastructure Delivery

In our country roads remain the most heavily used transportation 
infrastructure, providing a base for a multitude of productive activities 
that help to expand the economy by creating jobs and connecting 
individuals, villages, towns and cities. This past year has strengthened our 
resolve at RAL to continue building the economy by maintaining and 
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constructing new roads. This we have achieved with the communities 
where we are working, through growing small, medium and micro-enterprises 
(SMMEs) and ensuring that whatever we do benefits the community.

During the 2018/19 financial year, a total of 54.8km were upgraded from 
gravel to tar. A total of 337 593m² of surface roads were rehabilitated. In 
doing so, 523 full time equivalent jobs were created at a cost of R38m. 
We have also ensure that beyond the construction of roads, communities 
continue to benefit through skills development programs. We have since 
trained 716 local workers in various programmes; viz, road maintenance, 
entrepreneurship, construction, basic book keeping skills, amongst 
others. The entity also spent an amount of R120m on local SMMEs to 
boost local econonies.

Our people

As RAL, we believe that the our people constitute a very valuable resource 
for the success of the entity and its ability to deliver on its mandate in the 
Province. The employees of RAL are encouraged to undergo training on 
an annual basis which is linked to their areas of responsibilities whether it 
be in the core business or support areas. The current financial constraints 
however posed a challenge in terms of RAL to built a critical mass of 
highly skilled engineers required not only by RAL but the Province at large.

In addressing the challenges of critical mass, RAL has invested in the 
training and development of graduate engineers with the aim of upskilling 
them to the level where they will be able to form part of the project 
management and engineering teams that will be responsible for the 
delivery of the road infrastructure in future. These graduate engineers 
all come from previously disadvantaged groups and include females as 
well. Some of these graduate engineers are currently successfully managing 
projects within RAL and are eligible for appointment as project managers 
and engineers.

On behalf of the management of RAL, I would like to express my appreciation 
to all the employees of RAL who continue to deliver their best in the 
midst of all the challenges as result of the prevailing economic 

circumstances in which they operated. Our success could not have 
been achieved without their valued contribution and dedication.

Managing our financial resources

RAL has achieved an unqualifed audit opinion for the third consecutive 
year. This has been achieved though the strengthening of internal controls 
within the entity over the past few years, which enabled us to move from 
the adverse opinion five years ago to qualified the following year and 
finally achievieving unqualified opinion for the past three years. Although 
we had aimed to achieve a clean audit for the year under review, we 
still need to address certain audit findings before we can get there.

The entity reviews its materiality framework on an annual basis to provide 
reasonable assurance against material losses and misstatements on the 
financial statements. We have done our best to ensure that our internal 
controls comply with the PFMA, the Enterprise Risk Management Framework, 
as well as Treasury regulations.

Delivering on the road infrastructure during this reporting period has not 
been easy, as the demands for road infrastructure far exceeds the 
current funding levels. 

The auditor general has raised certain findings relating to the 
Performance information. We take note of that and we will be developing 
plans to ensure that there is no repeat of such findings in the next year. 
The results of the full performance are included in this annual report.

The management of RAL wishes to thank the Auditor general for providing 
a professional and quality external service. We take note of the findings 
and comments and undertake to implement the improvement plan to 
address the findings.

15



ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

Our Strategic Partners

We wish to extend our gratitude to our external strategic partners in the 
private sector who continued to place their trust in the technical capability 
of RAL by committing their funds in joint projects with us. These contributions go 
a long way in alleviating the current financial constraints faced by RAL 
and also in providing the road infrastructure in the communities where 
these strategic partners operate within the province.

Our Stakeholders

To our most important stakeholders, the people of Limpopo, we hereby 
extend our utmost gratitude for your patience over this past financial 
year. The task of rolling out the road infrastructure is a challenging one 
not only for us at RAL but for the whole Province. We hope that we will 
continue to have meaningful engagements as we continue to find solutions 
to the extensive backlog in the rollout of the road network in our province.

We also wish to extend our gratitude for the support, guidance and 
commitment for the success of RAL to our Provincial Government, the 
Department of Public Works Roads and Infrastructure and Provincial 
Treasury.

On behalf of the management of RAL, we wish to thank the members 
of the RAL Board for your oversight role over this past financial year. We 
also thank the members of the Audit and Risk Committee for exercising 
your fiduciary roles with utmost care and diligence.

The management of RAL also wishes to thank the Executive Authority, 
the MEC for Public Works Roads and Infrastructure for consideration of 
this report and the Portfolio Committee for Public Works Roads and 
Infrastructure for the guidance and oversight towards the success of 
RAL.

Thank You

16



ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019 17



ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

RAL ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

18



ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019 19



ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

20



ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

21



ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

PART B : PERFORMANCE INFORMATION



ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019



ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

1. SITUATION ANALYSIS

1.1 SERVICE DELIVERY ENVIRONMENT

The province currently has 20 091 kilometres (km) of roads, of which
6 175 km is tarred and 13 915 km is gravel. During 2018/19 financial
year, RAL reinstated 94 kilometres of road which was cut off by floods. 
The Agency obtains its revenue from the Provincial Road Maintenance 
Grant, as well as Equitable Share from the Limpopo Provincial Treasury. 
Despite the constrained annual allocation of funds, RAL is committed to 
working tirelessly to eradicate the backlog of gravel or dirt provincial 
roads in Limpopo. In this regard, RAL has secured strategic partnerships in 
an effort to raise additional funds to supplement its allocation.

Due to budgetary constraints, the road network in the Limpopo Province 
has been deteriorating resulting in the disintegration of the roads. 
However, RAL endeavours to execute its mandate within the available 
financial resources. The Agency has successfully completed the 
construction of new roads and those roads have had a positive 
impact on the economy of the Limpopo province in terms of facilitation 
of business transportation of goods and services.

1.2 KEY POLICY DEVELOPMENTS AND LEGISLATIVE CHANGES

There have been no significant changes to the institution’s legislative 
and other mandates in the financial year under review.

2. PERFORMANCE INFORMATION

2.1. LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY PERFORMANCE REPORTING
FRAMEWORK

The purpose of this report is to apprise the Stakeholders of RAL about  
its performance for the year under review as measured against the 
pre-determined objectives, set out in the Strategic Plan and Annual 
Performance Plan for the 2018/19 Financial Year. 

Section 195 of the constitution requires the government and its entities 
to use their resources efficiently, economically, and effectively, to run a 
developmental oriented public administration, to run an accountable 
public administration and provide timely, accessible and accurate
information.

The Accounting Authority of a public entity is required, in terms of 
section 55(1) (d) (i) of the Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999 
(PFMA) and article 28.2 of the Treasury Regulations to, inter alia, 
submit an annual report five (5) months after the end of a financial 
year to the Executive Authority and to the Auditor-General South Africa.   

2.2. PROGRESS ON NON-FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE TARGETS

In terms of the set annual targets which are outlined in the APP, there 
are specific areas in which the entity exceeded its targets and areas 
where there was under-performance. In the period from 1 April 2018 to 
31 March 2019, a total of 72 (seventy-two) targets were set. Out of 
72 (seventy-two) targets, 54 (fifty-four) targets were achieved and 
18 (eighteen) targets were not achieved. 
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PROGRAMME 1: ADMINISTRATION
The purpose of the programme is to provide the support required in order to effectively manage and deliver efficient service to the people of 
Limpopo.
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PROGRAMME 1: ADMINISTRATION
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PROGRAMME 1: ADMINISTRATION
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PROGRAMME 1: ADMINISTRATION
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PROGRAMME 1: ADMINISTRATION
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PROGRAMME 1: ADMINISTRATION
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PROGRAMME 1: ADMINISTRATION
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PROGRAMME 1: ADMINISTRATION
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PROGRAMME 1: ADMINISTRATION
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PROGRAMME 2: ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE

The purpose of the programme is to provide the support required in order to effectively manage and deliver efficient service to the people of Limpopo.
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PROGRAMME 2: ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE
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PROGRAMME 2: ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE
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PROGRAMME 2: ROAD INFRASTRUCTURE
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OFFICIAL SIGN OFF

Roads Agency Limpopo (SOC) Ltd

It is hereby certified that this Consolidated Performance Information:

   •     Was developed by the management of Roads Agency Limpopo under the guidance of the Chief Executive Officer, 
   •     Was prepared in line with the approved Quarterly Performance Reports for the Financial Year 2018/19,
   •     Was verified by the Chief Executive Officer and found reliable, accurate, complete and valid.

Mr. M.S. Ralebipi
Chairperson: Board of Directors

Mr. G.M. Maluleke CA(SA) ACMA CGMA
Chief Executive Officer
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PERFORMANCE INFORMATION

1. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors, with the assistance of the Company Secretary 
is reponsible for setting the right ethical tone conducive to Corporate 
Governance.

2. PORTFOLIO COMMITTEE

Roads Agency Limpopo is, from time to time, expected to account to 
the Portfolio Committee on Public Works, Roads and Infrastructure 
regarding the delivery of its mandate as stipulated in RAL’s founding 
Act.

3. SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Member of Executive Council responsible for the Limpopo Provincial 
Department of Public Works, Roads and Infrastructure is the sole 
shareholder of the entity, on behalf of the Limpopo Provincial Government. 
On an annual basis, a Shareholders’ Compact is concluded between 
the shareholder and the entity in terms of which key deliverables are 
outlined, in conformity with RAL’s Constitutive Act, Annual Performance 
Plan and Strategic Plan. The shareholder holds the Board of Directors 
accountable for the implementation of the predetermined strategic 
objectives set out in the Annual Performance Plan. In this regard, RAL 
submits Performance Reports both on a quarterly and annual basis. The 
quarterly performance reporting, as well as annual reporting requirements 
were complied with during the period under review.

4. THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY / BOARD

The Role of the Board

Board Members shall act jointly as a collective when discharging their 
duties and no Board Member shall have any authority to severally 
perform any act on behalf of RAL unless specifically authorized or 
requested by the Board or authorised nominees of the Board. Board 
members shall be jointly accountable for the decisions of the Board. 
Board members have a fiduciary duty to act in the best interests of RAL, 
to act with utmost care and due diligence in discharging their duties 
and to avoid conflict of interest and declare any such conflict when it 
arise, and to account for any advantages gained in discharging their 
duties on behalf RAL. Board Members shall act with integrity and shall 
not misuse their positions to derive personal benefits in the scope of their 
directorship. 

The Board will base its decisions on policy, strategy, facts, analysis and 
not on prejudice.
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COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD 2018/19
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COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD 2018/19
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COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD 2018/19
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REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD 2018/19

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

*Mr Maluleke ceased to be a member of the Audit and Risk Committee, the Finance Committee and the Social and Ethics Committee on 28 
February 2019.
*Mr Mkhacane ceased to be a member of the Finance Committee on 31 August 2018.

*Mr Maluleke ceased to be a member of the Audit and Risk Committee on 28 February 2019.
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1. RISK MANAGEMENT

Section A: Risk Management

The Board of Directors, through its Audit and Risk Committee, provided 
an oversight role on the effectiveness of the Agency’s risk management 
system, in conformity with the implementation of its Five-Year Strategic 
Plan.

The Agency had identified, analysed, evaluated, monitored and 
reported on risk exposure emanating from the strategic, operational 
and project-related risks impacting on the accomplishment of its set 
strategic goals and objectives, in accordance with the approved Risk 
Management Policy Framework (“Standards”). These standards served 
as a prominent source of guidance and reference in driving 
the execution of the enterprise-wide risk management activities and 
initiatives. The Agency’s risk management system was consistently, 
during the reporting period, aligned to best international practices (ISO 
31 000:2009, COSO Framework, King IV Report on Corporate Governance 
in South Africa, 2016, Public Sector Risk Management Framework and 
Provincial Risk Management Framework).

The Executive Committee established the Governance, Risk and 
Compliance Committee to assist it with the role of discharging and 
operationalisation of the risk management strategy, as defined in the 
approved terms of reference. The committee’s membership comprised 
of all the Executive Management, Senior Managers and other Assurance 
Providers for inclusivity and buy-in purposes.

The Agency appointed Risk Champions for all the divisions and business 
units of the Agency and equipped the champions with the requisite 
training. These champions served as the key coordinators and Change 
Agents for their respective work areas in order to assist with ensuring that 
a risk management culture is inculcated in the respective divisions and 
business units.

The Agency successfully piloted the roll-out of the project-related risks 
and issued registers methodology on some of its key upgrading projects 

spread throughout the length and breadth of the Limpopo Province, 
on the basis of cost, quality and timeline principles. Risk management 
continued to be an integral component of the Agency in fulfilling its 
main mandate for upgrading and maintaining quality road infrastructure, 
consistent with norms and standards. The lessons-learned concept was 
also introduced in ensuring proper recording and assessment of occurrences 
and areas requiring improvements, during the rolling out of the project 
lifecycle, in order to maximise on the opportunities and minimise on 
incurred losses.

Section B: Fraud and Corruption

The Board of Directors has approved both the Fraud and Corruption 
Prevention Policy, as well as the Fraud and Corruption Plan to underpin 
the proactive and effective detection, prevention and reduction of any 
potential fraud and corruption-related risks. Consequently, the Agency’s 
management identified, analysed, evaluated, monitored and reported 
on potential fraud-related risk exposures during the 2018/19 financial 
year.

The Agency hosted a successful anti-fraud and corruption awareness 
campaign during quarter 3 of the 2018/19 financial year, in liaison with 
Office of the Public Protector, which campaign was aimed at raising 
awareness and disseminating information on the dangers and implications 
of fraud and corruption. This initiative was conducted in commemoration 
of the United Nations International Anti-Corruption Day which is an 
annual event hosted on 9th December.

Section C: Safety, Health and Environment

The Agency established the Health and Safety Committee entrusted 
with the role of embedding a safe and non-hazardous mindset and 
working environment, in conformity with the Occupational, Health and 
Safety Act 85 of 1993 and Construction Regulations, 2014, as issued by 
the Department of Labour. The Agency has adopted a zero-tolerance 
stance on a healthy and safe working environment, which is enshrined 
in its Health and Safety Policy Statement, in order to ensure prevention 
of harm to the environment, assets, employees, contractors, service 
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providers, as well as members of the public affected by its operational 
activities. This practice was evidenced by the approval of the Safety, 
Health, Environment and Quality Policy, by the Board of Directors. The 
Agency has successfully collaborated with other industry leaders such 
as Transnet, Eskom, Polokwane Municipality and the Department of 
Labour in an effort to benchmark and share best practices, knowledge 
and expertise. The Agency strived to maintain the highest degree of 
compliance with all applicable statutory and regulatory requirements 
for safety, health and environment management, in execution of its 
capital management program.

2. INTERNAL AUDIT

RAL’s Internal Audit Unit works closely with the Proactive Assurance and 
Risk Management Units in order to ensure a combined assurance model 
that is risk-based and integrated. The Internal Audit Unit is governed by 
its charter which is reviewed and concluded with the Audit & Risk 
Committee of the Board of Directors on an annual basis. In addition to 
the Internal Audit Charter, the activities of the unit are set out in the 5 
Year Rolling Internal Audit Plan, and for the financial year under review, 
an annual Internal Audit Plan was approved by the Audit & Risk Committee.

During the 2018/19 financial year the unit adhered to the Institute of 
Internal Auditors (IIA) Standards and Code of Ethics. The unit submitted 
activity reports to the Audit & Risk Committee on a quarterly basis.

Overall Control Assessment

Based on the results of the internal audit review for the 2018/2019 financial 
year, the internal audit unit concluded that the controls put in place 
by the Agency were adequate, albeit ineffective. Significant areas of 
concern that might affect the Agency’s operations were identified and 
a recommendation was made that management improves the 
effectiveness of the internal controls.

3. AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE

The Audit and Risk Committee exercised an oversight and monitoring 
function, as required by its Terms of Reference. The Committee held its 
quarterly sittings for the purpose of considering all statutory submissions 
to the shareholder and to the Limpopo Provincial Treasury, and for exercising an 
oversight and monitoring role. The Committee considered the quarterly 
performance report, financial statements and management accounts, 
on a quarterly basis.

4. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Crucial pieces of legislation that govern and regulate the Agency’s 
operations are, inter alia, the Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999, 
the Companies Act 71 of 2008 and the Limpopo Province Roads Agency 
Proprietary Limited and Provincial Roads Act 7 of 1998, as amended. The 
regulatory framework comprises the King IV Code, Treasury Regulations, 
and the Protocol on Corporate Governance in the Public Sector. RAL 
has the responsibility to comply with all applicable laws and regulations. 
The Audit and Risk Committee received quarterly compliance reports 
apprising the Committee of the level of compliance of the Agency.

5. FRAUD AND CORRUPTION

Roads Agency Limpopo has established a Fraud and Corruption hotline, 
which is a platform on which concerns relating to fraud and breaches of 
ethical codes can be reported. The Hotline is a telephonically operated 
tool which employees and concerned citizens can freely use to report 
any fraud and corruption activities on an anonymous basis. This hotline 
has been effective since 2011.

Furthermore, the Agency, in its procurement processes, continues, to 
give due regard to the provisions set out in the Public Finance Management 
Act of 1999, Treasury Regulations and Framework for Supply Chain 
Management and related pieces of legislation. The Board of Directors 
approved the agency’s Fraud Prevention and Anti-Corruption Policy, 
which policy was implemented throughout the financial year being 
reported on.
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6. MINIMISING CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The Board of Directors approved a Conflict of Interest Policy in its sitting 
held on 11th November 2015, in terms of which all employees of Roads 
Agency Limpopo are required to complete the declaration of interest 
forms, in which financial interests have to be disclosed. All declarations 
made by employees have to be submitted to the Chief Executive Officer 
for approval.

7. CODE OF CONDUCT

RAL operates on a solid policy platform that covers all areas of the 
agency. The Board pays particular attention to the effectiveness and 
relevance of policies, considering all policies before implementation, 
including ensuring that management complies with relevant laws and 
regulations.

8. HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Agency ensures that all the projects that are implemented comply with 
all the statutory requirements of Environmental Management, Health & 
Safety regulations. This is done by ensuring that all projects have 
environmental authorisations and permits from stakeholder departments. 
In addition, we also ensure that there is compliance monitoring for 
appointed contractors to meet the Safety, Health and Environmental 
Management obligations.

The major challenge during execution of projects is the land ownership 
disputes in the borrow pits areas and this is addressed by strictly adhering to 
the provisions of the law and intensive stakeholder engagement processes 
with the Social and Institutional Development (S.I.D) unit at RAL. The process 
of stakeholder engagement ensures that information dissemination on 
projects is done throughout the project cycle in order to create awareness 
within communities and amongst project participants.

9. COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms T.C. Kekana is the appointed Company Secretary of Roads Agency 
Limpopo.

10. SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Agency offers bursaries to disadvantaged students pursuing Civil 
Engineering and Construction related qualifications and Learnership 
Programme. Upon completion of their studies, bursary holders are offered 
an opportunity for experiential training. Where possible the Agency has 
been able to absorb some graduates, who were part of the learnership 
programme and who have successfully completed their studies.

AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit and Risk Committee is pleased to present its report for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2019. The committee has adopted 
appropriate formal terms of reference as outlined in the Audit Commit-tee 
Charter. The Committee has discharged its  fiduciary duties in conformity 
with this charter and has executed all its delegated responsibilities as 
contained therein namely:

• reviewing the internal control structure, including  financial controls 
and accounting systems, as well as evaluating whether the system of 
internal control is adequate to manage critical risks;

• reviewing the internal audit function, including its written charter, 
objectives,goals and staffing plans, as well as evaluating whether 
the function is performed satisfactorily;

• evaluating whether management demonstrates and stimulates the 
necessary respect for the internal control structures;
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Audit & Risk Committee responsibility

The Audit and Risk Committee reports to have adopted appropriate formal 
terms of reference in our charter in conformity with the provisions of 
Principle 8, Recommended Practice 51-59 of the King IV Report on 
Corporate Governance and Section 94 of the Companies Act 71 of 
2008.

• overseeing and managing the total internal audit function to ensure 
that:

      -   the internal audit performance goals are achieved; 
      -   risks are identified;
      -   specific issues requiring attention are highlighted;

Audit Committee Members:

The Audit Committee consisted of the independent members listed 
hereunder. The Committee convened 9 meetings during the 2018/19 
financial year. The Audit Charter requires that the committee meets at 
least 2 times per annum. 

The Committee exercised oversight over the effectiveness of the internal 
controls, assurance functions, as well as the integrity of the Annual 
Financial Statements and Annual Performance Report.
Furthermore, the Committee monitored the governance of financial, 
operational and strategic risks of RAL. 

*Mr Maluleke ceased to be a member of the Audit and Risk Committee 
on 28 February 2019.
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Audit and Risk Committee ensures that Internal Audit Unit performs its responsibility by:

• Reviewing competence and qualifications of the Internal Audit Function, including reviewing and concurring with the appointment and 
dismissal of the Internal Audit service provider;

• Reviewing the plans and budgets of the Internal Audit Function. Ensure that the plan addresses the high risk areas and that adequate          
resources are available;

• Reviewing audit results and action plans of management;
• Reviewing the effectiveness of the Internal Audit Function;
• Ensuring that Internal Audit work is coordinated with External Audit to ensure little or no duplication of work and coverage;
• Receiving and reviewing quarterly progress reports submitted by the internal audit function;
• Reviewing the Annual Risk Assessment process and prioritisation of major risks identified.

Evaluation of Annual Financial Statements
We have:

• Reviewed and discussed the Annual Financial Statements to be included in the Annual Report, with the Auditor-General and the Internal 
Auditors.

• Reviewed the Auditor-General of South Africa’s management letter and management’s response;
• Reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices;
• Reviewed the International Marketing Council compliance with legal and regulatory provisions;
• Reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the audit.

Auditor General of South Africa
The committee met with the Auditor-General of South Africa to ensure that there are no unresolved issues.

Ms. M.G. Mokoka CA(SA)
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee
Roads Agency Limpopo
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1. HUMAN RESOURCE OVERSIGHT STATISTICS

RAL leadership (Board & CEO) regard the employees of RAL as its necessary Intellectual Capital charged with the task of executing the strategy of the 
entity. RAL has completed skills audit to identify gaps in its skills base and provide corrective training and development to ensure that employees are 
equipped with necessary skills to fulfil their contractual responsibilities and to create an enabling learning environment by partnering with Construction 
Seta and other service providers to train RAL staff.

RAL also encourages and supports all staff to upgrade their qualifications and make RAL a learning Organisation which strives for excellence. The CEO 
encourages staff to register with professional organisations for the purposes of continuous professional development and for ethical considerations.

Personnel Cost by programme/ activity/ objective
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Personnel cost by Salary Band

Productivity Bonus
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9 Employees are interns hence 149

Training Costs

56



ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

Employment Changes

Labour Relations: Misconduct and disciplinary action
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2. EMPLOYMENT EQUITY 
Equity targets and employment equity status
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The Agency has met its employment equity targets in terms of representation of women in top and senior management. The other 
key critical positions are at evaluation stage by the Human Resources Unit. The target for people with disability will be addressed in the 
2019/20 employment equity targets.
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Roads Agency Limpopo (SOC) Ltd
(Registration Number 2001/025832/30)    
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019  
          
Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval

The Board of Directors is required by the Public Finance Management 
Act 1 of 1999, as amended (PFMA), to maintain adequate accounting 
records and is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the Audited 
Annual Financial Statements and related financial information included 
in this annual report.  It is the responsibility of the Board of Directors 
to ensure that Audited Annual Financial Statements fairly represent the 
state of affairs of Roads Agency Limpopo (SOC) Ltd as at the end of 
the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the 
period ended.

These financial statements have been prepared using appropriate 
accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgment 
and estimate, in conformity, in all material respects with South African 
Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards 
of GRAP).

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the 
system of internal controls established by the entity and place considerable 
importance on maintaining a strong control environment.  To enable 
the directors to meet these responsibilities, the Board sets standards of 
internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or deficit in a cost 
effective manner.  The standards include the proper delegation of 
authority within a clearly defined framework, accounting procedures 
and adequate segregation of duties to ensure acceptable levels of risk.  
These controls are monitored throughout the entity and employees are 
required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the 
entity’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable 
circumstances is above reproach.  The focus of risk management in the 
entity is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known 
risks across the entity.  While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the 

entity endeavours to maintain it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, 
control, systems and ethical behaviours applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Board of Directors is of the opinion that the financial statements fairly 
represent the financial position of Roads Agency Limpopo (SOC) Ltd.  
The Auditor-General South Africa, who are the independent auditors of 
Roads Agency Limpopo (SOC) Ltd, are engaged to express an opinion on 
the annual financial statements and were given unrestricted access to 
all financial records and related data, including minutes of the Board 
of Directors, the Committees of the Board and the management of the 
Roads Agency Limpopo (SOC) Ltd.  The Board of Directors has no reason 
to believe that all representations made to the independent auditors 
during the audit are not valid and appropriate. The Board of 
Directors further accepts responsibility for the maintenance of accounting 
records which may be relied upon in the preparation of the financial 
statements, as well as adequate systems of internal financial control.

Nothing has come to the attention of the Board of Directors to suggest 
that the Roads Agency Limpopo (SOC) Ltd will not remain a going 
concern for at least the following twelve months.

The Annual Financial Statements of Roads Agency Limpopo (SOC) Ltd 
which appear on pages 82 to 135 were approved by the Board of 
Directors and are signed on their behalf by:

Mr. G.M. Maluleke AC(SA) ACMA CGMA
Chief Executive Officer

Ms. M.G. Mokoka CA (SA)
Chairperson: Audit & Risk Committee

Mr. M.S. Ralebipi
Chairperson: Board of Directors
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Report of the auditor-general to the Limpopo Provincial Legislature on the Roads Agency Limpopo SOC Ltd

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

1. I have audited the financial statements of the Roads Agency Limpopo SOC Ltd set out on pages 3 to 39, which comprise the appropriation 
statement, the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, the statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net assets, 
cash flow statement and the statement of comparison of budget and actual information for the year then ended, as well as the notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

2. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the entity as at 31 March 2019, and its 
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (SA Standards of GRAP), and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA) 
and the Companies Act of South Africa, 2008 (Act No. 71 of 2008) (Companies Act).

3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of this auditor’s report. 

4. I am independent of the public entity in accordance with sections 290 and 291 of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
Code of ethics for professional accountants (IESBA code), parts 1 and 3 of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) and the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
my audit in South Africa. I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA codes.

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my unqualified opinion.

Material uncertainty relating to going concern/ financial sustainability

6. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

7. Material uncertainty relating to financial sustainability in note 30 to the financial statements indicates that the public entity incurred a deficit of 
R832 735 000 (2017-2018: R924 739 000) during the year ended 31 March 2019 and, as of that date, the public entity’s current liabilities exceeded 
its current assets by R332 486 000 (2017-2018: R280 884 000).

Emphasis of matters

8. I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not modified in respect of these matters.
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Restatement of corresponding figures 

9. As disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements, the corresponding figures for 31 March 2018 were restated as a result of an error in the financial 
statements of the entity at, and for the year ended, 31 March 2019. 

Significant uncertainty 

10. With reference to note 25 to the financial statements, the entity is the defendant in lawsuits relating to damage of property and land claims. 
The entity is opposing the claims, as it believes the claims to be fraudulent. The ultimate outcome of the matter could not be determined and no 
provision for any liability that may result was made in the financial statements.

Responsibilities of the accounting authority for the financial statements

11. The board of directors, which constitutes the accounting authority, is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework and the SA Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA 
and Companies Act, and for such internal control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

12. In preparing the financial statements, the accounting authority is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the appropriate governance 
structure either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

13. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
 
14. A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included in the annexure to this auditor’s report.
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Report on the audit of the annual performance report

Introduction and scope

15. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have 
a responsibility to report material findings on the reported performance information against predetermined objectives for selected programmes 
presented in the annual performance report. I performed procedures to identify findings but not to gather evidence to express assurance. 

16. My procedures address the reported performance information, which must be based on the approved performance planning documents of 
the entity. I have not evaluated the completeness and appropriateness of the performance indicators included in the planning documents. My 
procedures also did not extend to any disclosures or assertions relating to planned performance strategies and information in respect of future 
periods that may be included as part of the reported performance information. Accordingly, my findings do not extend to these matters. 

17. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information in accordance with the criteria developed from the performance 
management and reporting framework, as defined in the general notice, for the following selected programmes presented in the annual 
performance report of the entity for the year ended 31 March 2019:

18. I performed procedures to determine whether the reported performance information was properly presented and whether performance was 
consistent with the approved performance planning documents. I performed further procedures to determine whether the indicators and related 
targets were measurable and relevant, and assessed the reliability of the reported performance information to determine whether it was valid, 
accurate and complete.
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19. The material findings in respect of the usefulness and reliability of the selected programmes are as follows:

Programme 2 – roads infrastructure

Various indicators 

20. The source information, evidence and method of calculation for achieving the planned indicator were not clearly defined.
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Various indicators 

21. The systems and processes that enable reliable reporting of achievement against the indicator were not adequately designed with 
the technical indicator description.

Various indicators 

22. There was no clear and logical link between the indicator mentioned below and the strategic objective to which it relates. The indicator 
focused on the details, while the strategic objective was to create job opportunities in accordance with EPWP guidelines on all contracts annually; 
to promote the development of SMMEs on all contracts annually; and to ensure training of locally based workers in all contracts on an ongoing 
basis. The details of the strategic objective are as follows:

• Number of FTE jobs created at/by 3rd party
• Amount (rand) spent on empowering labour at/by 3rd party
• Amount paid to SMME contractors and sub-contractors at/by 3rd party
• Number of local workers trained at/by 3rd party
• Number of work opportunities created at/by 3rd party
• Number of youth employed (18-35) at/by 3rd party
• Number of women employed at/by 3rd party
• Number of people living with disabilities employed at/by 3rd party
• Number of SMMEs contracted at/by 3rd party.
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Various indicators 

23. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support the reason for the variance between the planned target (listed below) 
and the achievement of (listed below) reported in the annual performance report. This was due to limitations placed on the scope of my work. 
I was unable to confirm the reported reason for the variance by alternative means. Consequently, I was unable to determine whether any 
adjustments were required to the reported reason for the variance.
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Various indicators 

24. The entity did not have an adequate record-keeping system to enable reliable reporting on achievement of the indicators listed below. As 
a result, I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence in some instances, while in other cases the supporting evidence provided 
did not agree to the reported achievements. Based on the supporting evidence that was provided, the achievement of these indicators differed 
from the reported achievement in the annual performance report. I was also unable to confirm the reported achievements by alternative 
means. Consequently, I was unable to determine whether any further adjustments were required to the reported achievement of the indicators 
listed below.

Other matters

25. I draw attention to the matters below.

Achievement of planned targets

26. Refer to the annual performance report on Pages 13 - 16 for information on the achievement of planned targets for the year. This information 
should be considered in the context of the material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information in paragraph 
20 - 24 of this report.
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Adjustment of material misstatements

27. We identified material misstatements in the annual performance report submitted for auditing. These material misstatements were in the reported 
performance information of programme 2: road infrastructure. As management subsequently corrected only some of the misstatements, we 
raised material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information.

Report on the audit of compliance with legislation

Introduction and scope

28. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings on the compliance 
of the entity with specific matters in key legislation. I performed procedures to identify findings but not to gather evidence to express assurance.

29. The material findings on compliance with specific matters in key legislations are as follows:

Annual financial statements, performance and annual report

30. The financial statements submitted for auditing were not prepared in accordance with the prescribed financial reporting framework and/or 
supported by full and proper records, as required by section 55(1)(a) and (b) of the PFMA.

Material misstatements of non-current assets, expenditure and disclosure items identified by the auditors in the submitted financial statement were 
corrected and the supporting records were provided subsequently, resulting in the financial statements receiving an unqualified audit opinion.

Expenditure management

 31. Effective and appropriate steps were not taken to prevent irregular expenditure amounting to R944 706 000 as disclosed in note 32 to the 
annual financial statements, in contravention of section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the PFMA. Most of the irregular expenditure was caused by non- compliance 
with supply chain management regulations, policies and procedures.

32. Expenditure was incurred without an approved budget and also in excess of the approved budget, in contravention of section 53(4) of the 
PFMA.

Procurement and contract management

33. Some of the goods and services with a transaction value below R500 000 were procured without obtaining the required price quotations, in 
contravention of treasury regulation 16A6.1.
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34. Some of the quotations were accepted from prospective suppliers who did not submit a declaration on whether they are employed by the 
state or connected to any person employed by the state, which is prescribed in order to comply with treasury regulation 16A8.3.

35. Some of the quotations were awarded to suppliers whose tax matters had not been declared by the South African Revenue Service to be in 
order, as required by treasury regulation 16A9.1(d).

36. Some of the competitive bids were adjudicated by a bid adjudication committee that was not composed in accordance with the policies of 
the public entity, as required by treasury regulation 16A6.2(a), (b) and (c).

37. Sufficient appropriate audit evidence could not be obtained that contracts were accepted from suppliers whose tax matters had been 
declared by the South African Revenue Service to be in order, as required by as required by treasury regulation 16A9.1(d).

38. Tender requirements for contracts above R30 million did not include a condition for mandatory subcontracting to advance designated groups, 
as required by the 2017 preferential procurement regulation 9(1).

39. Sufficient appropriate audit evidence could not be obtained that persons in service of the public entity whose close family members, partners 
or associates had a private or business interest in contracts awarded by the public entity had disclosed such interest, as required by treasury 
regulation 16A8.4.

40. Sufficient appropriate audit evidence could not be obtained that persons in service of other state institutions who had a private or business 
interest in contracts awarded by the public entity had not participated in the process relating to such contracts, as required by treasury regulation 
16A8.4.

Consequence management

41. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that disciplinary steps were taken against officials who had incurred irregular 
expenditure, as required by section 51(1)(e)(iii) of the PFMA. This was due to proper and complete records not being maintained as evidence to 
support the investigations into irregular expenditure.

Other information
 
42. The accounting authority is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, 
which includes the directors’ report, the audit committee’s report and the company secretary’s certificate, as required by the Companies Act. 
The other information does not include the financial statements, the auditor’s report and those selected programmes presented in the annual 
performance report that have been specifically reported in this auditor’s report.
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43. My opinion on the financial statements and findings on the reported performance information and compliance with legislation do not cover 
the other information and I do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

44. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements and the selected programmes presented in the annual performance report, or my knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

45. I did not receive the other information prior to the date of this auditor’s report. After I receive and read this information, and if I conclude 
that there is a material misstatement, I am required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and request that the other 
information be corrected. If the other information is not corrected, I may have to retract this auditor’s report and re-issue an amended report as 
appropriate. However, if it is corrected this will not be necessary.

Internal control deficiencies

46. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, reported performance information and compliance with 
applicable legislation; however, my objective was not to express any form of assurance on it. The matters reported below are limited to the 
significant internal control deficiencies that resulted in the findings on the annual performance report and the findings on compliance with 
legislation included in this report.

Leadership

47. Leadership’s review did not detect or prevent the risks of material misstatements in the financial statements and performance information 
which were only identified during the audit process. The slow response by leadership to resolve recurring findings and its inability to follow a proactive 
approach have resulted in material misstatements in financial, monthly reconciliation and performance reporting.

48. The public entity’s efforts to address the cash-flow and liquidity challenges did not yield the desired results to minimise the public entity’s exposure 
to cash-flow risk and liquidity problems, which led to going concern and financial viability difficulties.

49. Leadership did not always take prompt and adequate action to address weaknesses in internal control, which resulted in non-compliance with 
applicable legislation and gave rise to irregular expenditure.

Financial and performance management

50. Senior management did not adequately oversee the operations of the entity, as the financial statements and annual performance report 
contained material misstatements not detected by the public entity’s own system of internal control.
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51. The entity’s management of records was inadequate in maintaining performance information that supported the reported information. This 
included information relating to the collection, collation, verification, storage and reporting of actual performance information.

52. The implementation of the supply chain management processes and procedures was inadequate, resulting in an increase in irregular 
expenditure.

53. Non-compliance with legislation could have been prevented had compliance been properly reviewed and monitored.

54. Effective performance processes and procedures, and the management thereof, had not been adequately developed and implemented 
because of the slow response to the previous year’s audit findings.

Other reports
 
55. I draw attention to the following engagements conducted by various parties which had, or could have, an impact on the matters reported 
in the entity’s financial statements, reported performance information, compliance with applicable legislation and other related matters. These 
reports did not form part of my opinion on the financial statements or my findings on the reported performance information or compliance with 
legislation.

56. The Special Investigation Unit (SIU) is currently investigating matters pertaining to supply chain management as well as project-related 
expenditure that arose from 1 January 2009 to 20 April 2018. The outcome of the investigation was not yet available at the time of the report.

57. An internal investigation was conducted during the year into the alleged misconduct of current and former employees. The preliminary 
investigation concluded that certain findings should be investigated further.

Polokwane 
31 July 2019
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Annexure – Auditor-general’s responsibility for the audit

1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout my audit 
of the financial statements, and the procedures performed on reported performance information for selected programmes and on the public 
entity’s compliance with respect to the selected subject matters.

Financial statements

2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the financial statements as described in this auditor’s report, I also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the public entity’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
the board of directors, which constitutes the accounting authority.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the board of directors, which constitutes the 
accounting authority, in the preparation of the financial statements. I also conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Roads Agency Limpopo’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements about the material uncertainty or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the opinion on the financial statements. 
My conclusions are based on the information available to me at the date of this auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause a public entity to cease operating as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Communication with those charged with governance

3. I communicate with the accounting authority regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

4. I also confirm to the accounting authority that I have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to have a bearing on my independence and, where applicable, related 
safeguards.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE ROAD AGENCY LIMPOPO (SOC) LTD 
HAS PLEASURE IN PRESENTING THE ANNUAL REPORT ON THE ACTIVITIES OF 
THE ENTITY FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019.

REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES

1.MAIN ACTIVITIES AND OPERATIONS

The Roads Agency Limpopo (SOC) Ltd was established, in terms of the 
Limpopo Province Roads Agency Proprietary Limited and Provincial Roads 
Act 7 of 1998, as amended, for the purpose of constructing, maintaining 
and rehabilitating the Provincial road infrastructure, on behalf of the 
Limpopo Provincial Government. The entity is a State-Owned Company 
registered as such in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, and is listed 
as a Provincial Public Entity in schedule 3C of the Public Finance 
Management Act 1 of 1999, as amended.

The Member of Executive Council responsible for Public Works, Roads 
and Infrastructure, Hon. M. Mochadi, is the Executive Authority of the 
Agency. The Roads Agency Limpopo (SOC) Ltd receives its revenue 
from the Department of Public Works, Roads and Infrastructure.

During the financial year being reported on, RAL managed to raise an 
amount of R 24,261 million in additional funding from strategic partnerships 
forged with private and public sector partners for the purpose of 
implementing road infrastructure projects.

2.GOING CONCERN

The audited annual financial statements have been prepared on the 
basis of that the Agency will continue to operate the business as a going 
concern. The Board of Directors is of the opinion that the Roads Agency 
Limpopo (SOC) Ltd has adequate resources to continue with operations 
in the next financial year and that the realisation of assets and settlement 
of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the 
ordinary course of business.

3. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Board of Directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance 
arising since the end of the financial year to the date of this report that 
requires further disclosure in the annual financial statements.

4.DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

There were no material contracts in which the directors have an interest 
which were concluded and entered into during the financial period under 
review.

5: GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE

5.1. General
The Board of Directors retains full control of the strategic planning and 
direction of the Agency and acknowledges its responsibilities as to strategy, 
compliance with internal policies, external laws and regulations, effective 
risk management, performance monitoring and evaluation, transparency and 
effective communication both internally and externally. The Board of 
Directors is a unitary structure currently comprising of seven (6) Board 
Members, four (4) of whom are independent non-executive Board 
Members, and two (2) ex officio board members, being the Chief Executive 
Officer, the Board Member nominated to represent the Limpopo 
Provincial Treasury in terms of section 12(3)(a) of the Limpopo Province 
Roads Agency Proprietary Limited and Provincial Roads Act 7 of 1998, 
as amended in their official capacities. 

The Board of Directors is committed to applying all codified and customary 
corporate governance imperatives, as well as mandatory provisions of 
statutes, in order to ensure its responsible corporate citizenship.

In addition to the establishing statute of RAL, the shareholder concluded, as 
it does on an annual basis, a Shareholders’ Compact with the Agency, 
outlining all the deliverables expected to be achieved by the Agency 
for the year under review.  Furthermore, RAL executed all its pre-determined 
strategic objectives, as enshrined in the Five Year Strategic Plan and 
Annual Performance Plan.
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5.2: Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer
The Board of Directors held quarterly meetings, as required for the purpose 
of considering and approving statutory quarterly submissions, and 
executed its collective fiduciary duties, in line with the PFMA, Companies 
Act and the establishing Act of RAL. The Board of Directors, under the 
leadership of the Chairperson, created a conducive environment for 
maintaining and exercising continuous oversight of organisational 
effectiveness and efficiency and Board performance and effectiveness. 
The Chairperson is an independent non-executive director, and the roles 
of the Chairperson and the Chief Executive Officer are separate.  The 
Board performs its functions jointly, as a collective, and no single individual 
Director has absolute and unfettered powers of discretion. 

The Chief Executive Officer managed the business operations of the 
Agency on a day-to-day basis, and ensured that the strategy and 
Annual Performance Plan approved by the Board were executed 
optimally.

5.3. Audit and Risk Committee
During the financial period under review, the Audit and Risk Committee 
was, for 11 of the 12 months constituted, by three (3) independent 
non-executive members who are Chartered Accountants. The Committee 
held nine (9) meetings during the financial period under review for the 
purpose of conducting its ordinary business and for any other functions 
expected to be performed within the scope of the Committee.

6: INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES

To meet its responsibility with respect to providing reliable financial 
information, the Roads Agency Limpopo (SOC) Ltd maintains effective 
and efficient financial and operational internal control systems. These 
controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance that transactions 
are concluded in accordance with the prescribed laws and regulations 
and in conformity with the mandate of the shareholder.  The controls 
also ensure that the assets are adequately safeguarded against material 
loss, damage or unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposal and those 
transactions are properly authorised and recorded. The Audit and Risk 

Committee, and the Board held all their scheduled meetings for the 
year. All documents that were tabled for approval have been so 
approved by the Board of Directors and implemented by the management 
team.

7: RISK MANAGEMENT

The Audit and Risk Committee, on behalf of the Board, ensured that 
integrated risk management was upheld and that the risk appetite of 
the Agency is managed by addressing all imminent root causes and 
putting in place effective treatment plans for the mitigation of risks.

8: COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES, AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

All commitments of the Roads Agency Limpopo (SOC) Ltd are reflected 
in the statement of financial position. 

The Agency had several pending legal proceedings during the year 
under review that remain sub judice.

9: FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL AND IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE

Details of all transactions that were tantamount to fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure, as well as those that compounded irregular expenditure 
are set out in the notes to the Financial Statements.

10: DIRECTORS

The directors of the entity during the year and to the date of this report 
are as follows:

• Mr. M.S. Ralebipi – Chairperson of the Board of Directors  

• Ms. W.N.G. Moleko – Independent Non-Executive Director

• Mr. M.P.K. Tshivhase – Independent Non-Executive Director
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• Mr. X.R. Mulamula – Ex Officio Director representing the Limpopo         
Provincial Treasury 

• Mr. M. Mkhacane – Ex Officio Director representing the shareholder 
Department of RAL, Limpopo Department of Public Works, Roads 
and Infrastructure (Resigned on 31 August 2018)

•    Ms. T.M. Ramabulana – Independent Non-Executive Director 

• Mr. M.P. Matji - Ex Officio Director in his capacity as the Chief 
Executive Officer of RAL (Resigned on 28 February 2019)

• Mr. G.M. Maluleke - Ex Officio Director in his capacity as the 
Interim Chief Executive Officer of RAL (Seconded by the Board of 
Directors on 1 March 2019).

11: COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Tebogo C. Kekana was the Company Secretary of RAL during the 
year under review.

12: HUMAN RESOURCES

The Roads Agency Limpopo (SOC) Ltd maintains a positive ethical work 
climate that is conducive to attracting, retaining and motivating a 
diverse group of quality employees at all levels of operations to encourage 
team spirit and personal commitment.

Certificate of the Company Secretary 

In terms of section 88(2)(c) of the Companies Act no 71 of 2008 (as 
amended), I, T.C. Kekana, in my capacity as Company Secretary, confirm 
that for the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company has lodged with 
the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission, all such returns as 
are required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act and 
that all such returns and notices are true, correct and up to date.

Ms. T.C. Kekana
Company Secretary

31 July 2019
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Comments and variance analysis

#1: Other income exceeded budget mainly due penalties charged to contractor for non-compliance with contract requirements.

#2: Interest income is below budget due to funds been spent as soon as received and not being held long in the bank.

#3: Finance costs and penalties are mainly due to penalties charged by contractor for non-compliance with contract terms.

#4: Repair and Maintenance above budget due to high maintenance activities carried out in the current financial year to address            
maintenance backlog.

#5 : General expenses are below budget mainly due to delay in appointment of professional consultants and strict controls over travel claims    
in compliance with treasury regulations.

#6: The projects expenses on the Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts of R1 169 219 000 differs to the amount disclosed 
in the Statement of Financial performance as the amount disclosed in the Statement of Financial Performance exclude project expenditure 
amount that have been capitalised into the Property, Plant and Equipment.

87



ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

1. Presentation of Annual Financial Statements

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP), 
issued by the Accounting Standards Board in accordance with Section 91(1) of the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999).

These annual financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with historical cost convention as 
the basis of measurement, unless specified otherwise. They are presented in South African Rand.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been consistently applied in the preparation of these annual financial statements, 
are disclosed below.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1 Presentation currency

These annual financial statements are presented in South African Rand, which is the functional currency of the entity.

1.2 Going concern assumption

These annual financial statements have been prepared based on the expectation that the entity will continue to operate as a going concern for 
at least the next 12 months.

1.3 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts represented in 
the annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application of judgement is inherent in the formation 
of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the annual financial statements. Significant 
judgements include:

Allowance for slow moving, damaged and obsolete stock

An allowance for stock to write stock down to the lower of cost or net realisable value. Management have made estimates of the selling price and 
direct cost to sell on certain inventory items. The write down is included under expenses in the statement of financial performance.
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Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair value of 
financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is 
available to the entity for similar financial instruments.

Provisions

The amount recognised as a provision is the present value of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at balance 
sheet date.

Contingent provisions on entity combinations

Management applies its judgement to the facts, patterns and advice it receives from its attorneys, advocates and other advisors in assessing if an 
obligation is probable, more likely than not, or remote . This judgement application is used to determine if the obligation is recognised as a liability 
or disclosed as a contingent liability.

Allowance for doubtful debts

On debtors an impairment loss is recognised in surplus and deficit when there is objective evidence that it is impaired. The impairment is measured 
as the difference between the debtors carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest 
rate, computed at initial recognition.

1.4 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held for use in the production or supply of 
goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used during more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
• it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity; and the cost of the item can be 

measured reliably.
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Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset to the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade discounts and rebates are deducted in 
arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or monetary assets, or a combination of 
monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). If the acquired item’s fair value was not 
determinable, its deemed cost is the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up.

When significant components of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently to add to, 
replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located is also included in the cost of 
property, plant and equipment, where the entity is obligated to incur such expenditure, and where the obligation arises as a result of acquiring the 
asset or using it for purposes other than the production of inventories.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Items such as spare parts, standby equipment and servicing equipment are recognised when they meet the definition of property, plant and 
equipment.

Major inspection costs which are a condition of continuing use of an item of property, plant and equipment and which meet the recognition 
criteria above are included as a replacement in the cost of the item of property, plant and equipment. Any remaining inspection costs from the 
previous inspection are derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 
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The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

91



ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

1.4 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated 
separately.

The depreciation method used reflects the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential are expected to be 
consumed by the entity. The depreciation method applied to an asset is reviewed at least at each reporting date and, if there has been a 
significant change in the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset, the 
method is changed to reflect the changed pattern. Such a change is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that the entity expectations about the residual value and the useful 
life of an asset have changed since the preceding reporting date. If any such indication exists, the entity revises the expected useful life and/
or residual value accordingly. The change is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further economic benefits or 
service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or deficit when the item is 
derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

Assets which the entity holds for rentals to others and subsequently routinely sell as part of the ordinary course of activities, are transferred to 
inventories when the rentals end and the assets are available-for-sale. Proceeds from sales of these assets are recognised as revenue. All cash 
flows on these assets are included in cash flows from operating activities in the cash flow statement.

The entity separately discloses expenditure to repair and maintain property, plant and equipment in the notes to the financial statements (see 
note 2).

The entity discloses relevant information relating to assets under construction or development, in the notes to the financial statements (see 
note 2).
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1.5 Intangible assets

An asset is identifiable if it either:
• is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or divided from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, either individually 

or together with a related contract, identifiable assets or liability, regardless of whether the entity intends to do so; or
• arises from binding arrangements (including rights from contracts), regardless of whether those rights are transferable or separable from the 

entity or from other rights and obligations.

A binding arrangement describes an arrangement that confers similar rights and obligations on the parties to it as if it were in the form of a 
contract.

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and
• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

The entity assesses the probability of expected future economic benefits or service potential using reasonable and supportable assumptions that 
represent management’s best estimate of the set of economic conditions that will exist over the useful life of the asset.

Where an intangible asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its initial cost at the date of acquisition is measured at its fair value as 
at that date.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised when:
• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale.
• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it.
• there is an ability to use or sell it.
• it will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential.
• there are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset.
• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to the period over 
which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows or service potential. Amortisation is not provided for these intangible assets, but they are 
tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets amortisation is 
provided on a straight line basis over their useful life.
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The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator that the asset may be impaired. 
As a result the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount is amortised over its useful life.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Item                                                                                                                                                 Useful life
Computer software                                                                                                                       3 years
Website design                                                                                                                              3 years

The entity discloses relevant information relating to assets under construction or development, in the notes to the financial statements (see note ).

1.6 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual interest of another entity.

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial 
recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between 
that initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction (directly or through the use of an allowance account) for impairment or 
uncollectibility.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

Derecognition is the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from an entity’s statement of financial position.

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:
• Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, 

index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is not 
specific to a party to the contract (sometimes called the ‘underlying’).

• It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other types of contracts that would be 
expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors.

• It is settled at a future date.
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability (or group of financial assets 
or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter 
period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, an entity shall estimate 
cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, call and similar options) but shall not consider 
future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the 
effective interest rate (see the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Exchange Transactions), transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts. 
There is a presumption that the cash flows and the expected life of a group of similar financial instruments can be estimated reliably. However, in 
those rare cases when it is not possible to reliably estimate the cash flows or the expected life of a financial instrument (or group of financial 
instruments), the entity shall use the contractual cash flows over the full contractual term of the financial instrument (or group of financial 
instruments).

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction.

A financial asset is:
•   cash;
•   a residual interest of another entity; or
•   a contractual right to:
        - receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or
        - exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially favourable to the entity.

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because 
a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to:
•   deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or
•   exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by an entity in the event of difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled 
by delivering cash or another financial asset.
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Loan commitment is a firm commitment to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions. Loans payable are financial liabilities, other 
than short-term payables on normal credit terms.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk 
comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other 
than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument 
or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.

A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment when contractually due.

A residual interest is any contract that manifests an interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. A residual interest includes 
contributions from owners, which may be shown as:
• equity instruments or similar forms of unitised capital; 
• a formal designation of a transfer of resources (or a class of such transfers) by the parties to the transaction as
• forming part of an entity’s net assets, either before the contribution occurs or at the time of the contribution; or a formal agreement, in relation 

to the contribution, establishing or increasing an existing financial interest in the net assets of an entity.

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or financial liability. An 
incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the entity had not acquired, issued or disposed of the financial instrument.

Financial instruments at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets or non-derivative financial liabilities that have fixed or determinable 
payments, excluding those instruments that:
•   the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; or
•   are held for trading.

Financial instruments at cost are investments in residual interests that do not have a quoted market price in an active market, and whose fair value 
cannot be reliably measured.

Financial instruments at fair value comprise financial assets or financial liabilities that are:
•   derivatives;
•   combined instruments that are designated at fair value;
•   instruments held for trading. A financial instrument is held for trading if:
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        - it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near-term; or
        - on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of        
-       a recent actual pattern of short term profit-taking;
        - non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are designated at fair value at initial recognition; 
-       and 
        - financial instruments that do not meet the definition of financial instruments at amortised cost or financial instruments at cost.

1.7 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is classified as an operating 
lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Finance leases - lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property or, 
if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position 
as a finance lease obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in the lease.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated 
to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of on the remaining balance of the liability.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

1.8 Inventories

Inventories are initially measured at cost except where inventories are acquired through a non-exchange transaction, then their costs are their fair 
value as at the date of acquisition.

Subsequently inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost where they are held for;
•   distribution at no charge.
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Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of operations less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated 
costs necessary to make the sale, exchange or distribution.

The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 
location and condition.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amounts of those inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue 
is recognised. If there is no related revenue, the expenses are recognised when the goods are distributed, or related services are rendered. The 
amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value or current replacement cost and all losses of inventories are recognised as an 
expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net 
realisable value or current replacement cost, are recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period 
in which the reversal occurs.

1.9 Impairment of non-cash-generating assets

Cash-generating assets are assets used with the objective of generating a commercial return. Commercial return means that positive cash flows 
are expected to be significantly higher than the cost of the asset.

Non-cash-generating assets are assets other than cash-generating assets.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic recognition of the loss of the 
asset’s future economic benefits or service potential through depreciation (amortisation).

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised in the statement of financial position after deducting any accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses thereon.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets managed with the objective of generating a commercial return that generates 
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, excluding finance costs and income tax expense.
Depreciation (Amortisation) is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing 
parties, less the costs of disposal.
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Recoverable service amount is the higher of a non-cash-generating asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

Useful life is either:
•   the period of time over which an asset is expected to be used by the entity; or
•   the number of production or similar units expected to be obtained from the asset by the entity.

Judgements made by management in applying the criteria to designate assets as non-cash-generating assets or cash- generating assets, are as 
follows:

1.10 Share capital / contributed capital

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.

1.11 Employee benefits

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an entity in exchange for service rendered by employees.

A qualifying insurance policy is an insurance policy issued by an insurer that is not a related party (as defined in the Standard of GRAP on Related 
Party Disclosures) of the reporting entity, if the proceeds of the policy can be used only to pay or fund employee benefits under a defined benefit 
plan and are not available to the reporting entity’s own creditors (even in liquidation) and cannot be paid to the reporting entity, unless either:
•   the proceeds represent surplus assets that are not needed for the policy to meet all the related employee benefit obligations; or
•   the proceeds are returned to the reporting entity to reimburse it for employee benefits already paid. 

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable as a result of either:
•   an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal retirement date; or
•   an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits.

Other long-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than post-employment benefits and termination benefits) that are not due to be 
settled within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service.

Vested employee benefits are employee benefits that are not conditional on future employment.

A constructive obligation is an obligation that derives from an entity’s actions where by an established pattern of past practice, published policies 
or a sufficiently specific current statement, the entity has indicated to other parties that it will accept certain responsibilities and as a result, the 
entity has created a valid expectation on the part of those other parties that it will discharge those responsibilities.
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Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are due to be settled within twelve months after the 
end of the period in which the employees render the related service.

Short-term employee benefits include items such as:
• wages, salaries and social security contributions;
• short-term compensated absences (such as paid annual leave and paid sick leave) where the compensation for the absences is due to be 

settled within twelve months after the end of the reporting period in which the employees render the related employee service;
•  bonus, incentive and performance related payments payable within twelve months after the end of the reporting period in which the employees 

render the related service; and
•  non-monetary benefits (for example, medical care, and free or subsidised goods or services such as housing, cars and cellphones) for current 

employees.

When an employee has rendered service to the entity during a reporting period, the entity recognise the undiscounted amount of short-term 
employee benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service:
• as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any amount already paid. If the amount already paid exceeds the undiscounted amount 

of the benefits, the entity recognise that excess as an asset (prepaid expense) to the extent that the prepayment will lead to, for example, a 
reduction in future payments or a cash refund; and

• as an expense, unless another Standard requires or permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase their entitlement or, in 
the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs. The entity measure the expected cost of accumulating compensated 
absences as the additional amount that the entity expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting 
date.

The entity recognise the expected cost of bonus, incentive and performance related payments when the entity has a present legal or constructive 
obligation to make such payments as a result of past events and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. A present obligation exists 
when the entity has no realistic alternative but to make the payments.

Post-employment benefits

Post-employment benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) which are payable after the completion of employment.

Post-employment benefit plans are formal or informal arrangements under which an entity provides post-employment benefits for one or more 
employees.
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1.12 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:
• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the obligation; and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation. 

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date.

Where the effect of time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditures expected to be required 
to settle the obligation.

The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement is recognised 
when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement is treated as 
a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement does not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed if it is no longer probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required, to settle the obligation.

Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of a provision increases in each period to reflect the passage of time. This increase is recognised 
as an interest expense.

A provision is used only for expenditures for which the provision was originally recognised. Provisions are not recognised for future operating surplus 
(deficit).

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation (net of recoveries) under the contract is recognised and measured as a provision.
• A constructive obligation to restructure arises only when an entity:
• has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring, identifying at least:
      - the activity/operating unit or part of a activity/operating unit concerned;
      - the principal locations affected;
      - the location, function, and approximate number of employees who will be compensated for services being terminated;
      - the expenditures that will be undertaken; and
      - when the plan will be implemented; and
• has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement that plan or announcing its main 

features to those affected by it.
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A restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those that are both:
•   necessarily entailed by the restructuring; and
•   not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity.

No obligation arises as a consequence of the sale or transfer of an operation until the entity is committed to the sale or transfer, that is, there is a 
binding arrangement.

After their initial recognition contingent liabilities recognised in entity combinations that are recognised separately are subsequently measured at 
the higher of:
•   the amount that would be recognised as a provision; and
•   the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 25.

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because 
a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

Determining whether an outflow of resources is probable in relation to financial guarantees requires judgement. Indications that an outflow of 
resources may be probable are:
• financial difficulty of the debtor;
• defaults or delinquencies in interest and capital repayments by the debtor;
• breaches of the terms of the debt instrument that result in it being payable earlier than the agreed term and the ability of the debtor to settle 

its obligation on the amended terms; and
• a decline in prevailing economic circumstances (e.g. high interest rates, inflation and unemployment) that impact on
• the ability of entities to repay their obligations.
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Where a fee is received by the entity for issuing a financial guarantee and/or where a fee is charged on loan commitments, it is considered in 
determining the best estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation at reporting date. Where a fee is charged and the entity considers 
that an outflow of economic resources is probable, an entity recognises the obligation at the higher of:
• the amount determined using in the Standard of GRAP on Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and
• the amount of the fee initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the Standard of      

GRAP on Revenue from Exchange Transactions.

1.13 Commitments

Items are classified as commitments when an entity has committed itself to future transactions that will normally result in the outflow of cash.

Disclosures are required in respect of unrecognised contractual commitments.

Commitments for which disclosure is necessary to achieve a fair presentation should be disclosed in a note to the financial statements, if both the 
following criteria are met:
• Contracts should be non-cancellable or only cancellable at significant cost (for example, contracts for computer or building maintenance 

services); and
• Contracts should relate to something other than the routine, steady, state business of the entity – therefore salary commitments relating to 

employment contracts or social security benefit commitments are excluded.

1.14 Revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those inflows result in an increase in net 
assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly gives approximately equal 
value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party in exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction.

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume rebates. 
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Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:
• the entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
• the entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the 

goods sold;
• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and
• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the transaction is 
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The outcome of a transaction can be estimated 
reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:
• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity;
• the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be measured reliably; and
• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

When services are performed by an indeterminate number of acts over a specified time frame, revenue is recognised on a straight line basis over 
the specified time frame unless there is evidence that some other method better represents the stage of completion. When a specific act is much 
more significant than any other acts, the recognition of revenue is postponed until the significant act is executed.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of 
the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

Service revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. Stage of completion is determined 
by services performed to date as a percentage of total services to be performed.
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Interest

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets yielding interest, royalties and dividends or similar distributions is recognised when:
  It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity, and
  The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the effective interest rate method.

Service fees included in the price of the product are recognised as revenue over the period during which the service is performed.

1.15 Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Non-exchange transactions are defined as transactions where the entity receives value from another entity without directly giving approximately 
equal value in exchange.

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those inflows result in an increase in net 
assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction.

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume rebates.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised as revenue when:
•   it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity,
•   the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably, and
•   to the extent that there has been compliance with any restrictions associated with the grant.
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The entity assesses the degree of certainty attached to the flow of future economic benefits or service potential on the basis of the available 
evidence. Certain grants payable by one level of government to another are subject to the availability of funds. Revenue from these grants is only 
recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity. An announcement 
at the beginning of a financial year that grants may be available for qualifying entities in accordance with an agreed programme may not be 
sufficient evidence of the probability of the flow. Revenue is then only recognised once evidence of the probability of the flow becomes available.

Restrictions on government grants may result in such revenue being recognised on a time proportion basis. Where there is no restriction on the 
period, such revenue is recognised on receipt or when the Act becomes effective, which-ever is earlier.

When government remit grants on a re-imbursement basis, revenue is recognised when the qualifying expense has been incurred and to the 
extent that any other restrictions have been complied with.

Other grants and donations

Other grants and donations are recognised as revenue when:
•   it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity;
•   the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably; and
•   to the extent that there has been compliance with any restrictions associated with the grant.

If goods in-kind are received without conditions attached, revenue is recognised immediately. If conditions are attached, a liability is recognised, 
which is reduced and revenue recognised as the conditions are satisfied.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition and 
subsequently stated at amortized cost, less provision for impairment. All trade and other receivables are assessed at least annually for possible 
impairment. Impairments of trade and other receivables are determined in accordance with the accounting policy for impairments. Impairment 
adjustments are made through the use of an allowance account.

Bad debts are written off in the year in which they are identified as irrecoverable. Amounts receivable within 12 months from the reporting date 
are classified as current. Interest is charged on overdue accounts.
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1.16 Trade and other Payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition and are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

1.17 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other expenses incurred by an entity in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs are recognised 
as expense in the statement of financial performance in the period incurred.

1.18 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial performance in the year that 
the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently 
accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial performance.

1.19 Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in contravention of or that 
is not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation, including -
      (a) this Act; or
      (b) the State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968), or any regulations made in terms of the Act; or
      (c) any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial government.

National Treasury practice note no. 4 of 2008/2009 which was issued in terms of sections 76(1) to 76(4) of the PFMA requires the following (effective 
from 1 April 2008):

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial and which was condoned before year end and/or before 
finalisation of the financial statements must also be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure register. In such an instance, no further 
action is also required with the exception of updating the note to the financial statements.
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Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous financial year and is only condoned in the following financial year, the register and the 
disclosure note to the financial statements must be updated with the amount condoned.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was not condoned by the National Treasury or 
the relevant authority must be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure register. If liability for the irregular expenditure can be attributed 
to a person, a debt account must be created if such a person is liable in law. Immediate steps must thereafter be taken to recover the amount from 
the person concerned. If recovery is not possible, the accounting officer or accounting authority may write off the amount as debt impairment and 
disclose such in the relevant note to the financial statements. The irregular expenditure register must also be updated accordingly. If the irregular 
expenditure has not been condoned and no person is liable in law, the expenditure related thereto must remain against the relevant programme/
expenditure item, be disclosed as such in the note to the financial statements and updated accordingly in the irregular expenditure register.

1.20 Budget information

Entity is subject to budgetary limits in the form of appropriations or budget authorizations, which is given effect through appropriation.

General purpose financial reporting by entity shall provide information on whether resources were obtained and used in accordance with the 
legally adopted budget.

The approved budget is prepared on a accrual basis and presented by economic classification.

The annual financial statements and the budget are on the same basis of accounting therefore a comparison with the budgeted amounts for the 
reporting period have been included in the Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts.

1.21 Related parties

A related party is a person or an entity with the ability to control or jointly control the other party, or exercise significant influence over the other 
party, or vice versa, or an entity that is subject to common control, or joint control.

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
Joint control is the agreed sharing of control over an activity by a binding arrangement, and exists only when the strategic financial and operating 
decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control (the venturers).

Related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between the reporting entity and a related party, regardless of whether 
a price is charged.
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Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity, but is not control over those policies.

Management are those persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, including those charged with the 
governance of the entity in accordance with legislation, in instances where they are required to perform such functions.

Close members of the family of a person are considered to be those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that 
management in their dealings with the entity.

The entity is exempt from disclosure requirements in relation to related party transactions if that transaction occurs within normal supplier and/or 
client/recipient relationships on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect the entity to have 
adopted if dealing with that individual entity or person in the same circumstances and terms and conditions are within the normal operating 
parameters established by that reporting entity’s legal mandate.

Where the entity is exempt from the disclosures in accordance with the above, the entity discloses narrative information about the nature of the 
transactions and the related outstanding balances, to enable users of the entity’s financial statements to understand the effect of related party 
transactions on its annual financial statements.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
Figures in Rand thousand 2019 2018

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
Figures in Rand thousand 2019 2018

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
Figures in Rand thousand 2019 2018

The entity had significant cash on hand at year end due to the fact that it received the last tranche of grant allocation for the year just before the 
end of financial year. The entity used the amount to pay creditors after year end.
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RAL leased eight multifunctional printers from BCM Digison CC from 1 November 2016 for 3 years. Thirty six lease installments of R32 671.92 each are 
payable monthly in advance. Implicit interest rate is 10.67% per annum. At the end of the lease term, BCM Digison CC will retain the ownership of 
the printing machines. The lease agreement does not provide for contingent lease payments. At the inception of the lease, the present value of 
the minimum lease payments amounts to at least substantially all of the fair value of the leased asset.

115



ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019
116



ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019

Details on private sector contributions

RAL entered into agreements with some private sector entities whereby these sector entities undertook to contribute to roads 
construction within their operating vicinity. The agreements stipulate how much each party, RAL and private sector entity, should 
contribute towards roads constructions. The ownership of all the roads jointly constructed with private sector entities belong to RAL as 
a DPWRI implementing agency.
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25. Contingencies
                                                       
The entity is currently engaged in litigation which could result in damages/costs being awarded against it if claimants are successful in their actions. 
The following are the description of the claims, amounts claimed and estimated settlement amounts:

25.1. Motor Vehicle Accidents

Various motor vehicle owners claim to have sustained injuries and their vehicles damaged due to the condition of the road, failure to put road sign 
in place or collapsed road structures on the roads belonging to the entity . The total value of these claims and the estimated settlement amounts 
at 31 March 2019 is R26.702 million and R17.801 million respectively.

25.2. Employment Contract

A former employee of the entity has instituted a lawsuit against the entity for defamation of character which threatens his future employability. The 
value of the claim and the estimated settlement amount at 31 March 2019 is R37 million and R5 million respectively.

25.3. Other contingent liabilities

Two firms of attorneys initiated claims against the entity for the work they have alleged to have rendered to the entity. The entity is disputing the 
payments for the invoices due to the exorbitance of the amount and lack of proof of instruction to render the legal services to the entity. The total 
value of these claims and the estimated settlement amounts at 31 March 2019 is R2.092 million and R1.100 million respectively.

25.4. Property infringement

The entity received total claims of R6.470 million for excavation of land on the private property, for the construction of road, and for construction 
of road over a property owned by the claimant. The total estimated settlement amount is R5.251 million.

25.5. Construction Contracts

Legal claims for non-payment of invoices for road construction work performed and compensation for the contract alleged unlawfully termination 
of the contract by the entity. The claims amount to R18.660 million while total settlements are estimated at R16.699 million.

It is not practical to disclose detailed information of contingent liabilities on the financial statement as a results, a detailed list of contingent liabilities 
is available at entity’s offices.
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26. Related parties
`
Relationships
Directors
Ultimate controlling Department

Key Management
Shareholder with significant influence

Related party balances

Amounts included in Trade receivables (Trade Payable) regarding related parties 
Limpopo Department of Public Works, Roads & Infrastructure

Pre-payment of Directors fees
RAL - Board of Directors
Rates for the directors’ remuneration were changed in previous financial year, and it was noted after payments 
that the old rates were used. Remaining amount overpaid will be offset against directors’ fees payable in future.

Related party transactions

Professional fees paid to related party
Crawford and Company
The company provided loss adjustment services and contingent liability assessment and one of the company directors 
is the wife of the former CEO. The company was appointed through normal SCM process using the panel of suppliers 
approved by RAL Board of Directors.

Transfer of own revenue
Limpopo Department of Public Works, Roads & Infrastructure
Own revenue generated is transferred to Limpopo Department of Public Works, Roads & Infrastructure as required by 
the department.

Government grant received
Limpopo Department of Public Works, Roads & Infrastructure.

Refer to Directors’ report Limpopo Department of Public 
Works, Roads & Infrastructure Refer to note on Executive 
Management MEC of LDPWRI

(1 994)

37

-

4 286

1 388 918

(571) 

248

534

4 654

1 314 451
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* L. Fosu: Contract ended on 21 March 2018
* H. Magopa: Appointed as Acting CFO from 01 April 2018
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28. Prior period error and Comparative figures

Comparative figures have been restated to correct the prior period errors set out below.

1. The cost of building cable of R5.2 million was incorrectly included in the IT Equipment instead of building. The transfer of cable to building resulted 
in increase in depreciation expense for the building, for both current year and previous years.

2. In 2014/15, a government Gazette was passed whereby the ownership of three roads with a total length of 2.891 Km’s and cost of R27 million was 
transferred to other entities. Also, the ownership of a road with a total length of 40.45 Km’s and cost of R187 million was transferred to the agency. 
In 2018/19, it was noted that both these transactions were not processed.

As a consequence, Property, plant and equipment, and Depreciation and amortisation were understated. The errors have been corrected by 
restating each of the affected financial statement line items for the prior periods.
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3. In 2018/19 financial year, two court settlements amounting to R8 million and R2 million were paid in respect of work performed by contractors to 
build bridge and road. The R8 million was for the construction of a bridge which was completed in 2012, but the entity disputed the invoice. The 
settlement resulted in the capitalization of this amount into the cost of a bridge. This resulted in the restatement of the costs, accumulated 
depreciation and depreciation expense for the bridge. The R2 million was paid for the consulting work on the construction of a gravel road in 2014. 
As a result, it was capitalized into the cost of gravel road but impaired as the work of the consultant was not used.

The effects of the correction of the prior year errors are as follows:
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29. Risk management 

Financial risk management 

Liquidity risk

The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review 
of future commitments and through the compilation and monitoring of cash flow forecasts, as well as ensuring that a satisfactory level of cash and 
cash equivalents are maintained.

Cash flow forecasts are prepared and adequate utilised borrowing facilities are monitored.
The table below analyses the entity’s financial liabilities and relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of 
financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Credit risk

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors. The entity only deposits cash with major banks with high quality 
credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an ongoing basis. If 
customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of 
the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external 
ratings in accordance with limits set by the board.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows:

Financial instrument
Receivables from exchange transactions 
Non-current receivables
Cash and Cash equivalent

2019
2 677
2 790 

170 073

2018
2 286
2 760 

117 274
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30. Going concern 

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the entity incurred a deficit from continuing operations of R832 735 (2018: R924 739) and its current liabilities 
exceeded current assets by R 332 486 (2018:R280 884). However, the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as the 
Limpopo Department of Public Works, Roads & Infrastructure has pledged its continuing support for a minimum of 12 months from the date of 
issuing these financial statements. Management believe that the entity will have sufficient cash assets to be able to meet its debts as and when 
they are due.

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes that 
funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and 
commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

The ability of the entity to continue as a going concern is dependent on a number of factors. The most significant of these is that the entity 
continues to receive grants from LDPWRI. The entity has already received preliminary allocation for MTEF and the allocation will enable the entity 
to continue as a going concern.

31. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Opening balance
Add: Fruitless & wasteful expenditure - Current year 
Less: Fruitless & wasteful expenditure recovered

388 
11 483

(13)

14 
374

-
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